IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,144

4TH DCA CASE NO. 87-1530

JAMES BARRON, M.D., et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

JOSEPHINE SHAPIRO, as Personal Representative of the Estate of LEE SHAPIRO, and JOSEPHINE SHAPIRO, individually,

Respondents.

NOV 12 1909
CLERK, COLLETT

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

VNANCY P. MAXWELL, ESQUIRE
METZGER, SONNEBORN & RUTTER, P.A.
Attorneys for Petitioners
Suite 300, Barristers Building
1615 Forum Place
Post Office Box 024486
West Palm Beach, Florida 33402-4486
(407) 684-2000

STATEMENT OF TEE CASE AND FACTS

On August 17, 1979, DR. BARRON admitted MR. SHAPIRO to the hospital for removal of malignant polyps in the colon (R 331, 334-35). MR. SHAPIRO was 79 years of age at the time admission (R 343). DR. BARRON was averaging well over two cases a week of colon resection (SR 48-50) and up to this point in time he had never used antimicrobial or antibacterial medication prophylactically for these surgeries (SR 116). He made the treatment choice not to use antimicrobial or antibacterial medication in MR. SHAPIRO's surgery because he had been successful with other methods of colon cleansing in the past 48-49). DR, BARRON surgically removed the polyps and, during the procedure, sutured hernias and removed the appendix (SR 12-14).

Almost immediately following surgery, MR. SHAPIRO had an alteration in his mental status leading to confusion and difficulty with postoperative care (SR 5, 8, 16-19). He began to develop a localized peritonitis by the 28th of August (SR 20); the infection continued throughout the course of his hospitalization ultimately leading to blindness, deafness and other 1 complications • DR. BARRON transferred care of MR. SHAPIRO to an internal medicine group on October 7, 1979 and the group

MR. SHAPIRO died after suit was filed; MRS. SHAPIRO was substituted as personal representative of the estate (R 110-14), but the complaint was not amended to claim wrongful death.

discharged the patient from the hospital on February 4, 1980 (SR 23).

SHAPIRO's, Dr. Emil Gutman, became A relative of MR. involved in MR. SHAPIRO's care and treatment in September, 1979. a board certified radiologist who practiced in Dr. Gutman is Dayton, Ohio (R 272). Before his radiologic practice, he was in general practice and he testified he had a broader background Gutman spoke with MRS. some radiologists (R 275). Dr. SHAPIRO's operation and advised her to bring SHAPIRO before MR. husband to Dayton for treatment. At his deposition, testified that if she had followed his advice, MR. SHAPIRO would still be alive (R 275-76). He suggested traveling to Dayton because he was familiar with the surgeons up there and specific physician in mind who had operated on him previously. Gutman was very familiar with this physician's training and Dr. that he did the type of surgery MR. SHAPIRO needed (R 276-77).

Dr. Gutman spoke with MRS. SHAPIRO before the surgery and followed the hospitalization by phone and in person (R 278-79). At his deposition in April, 1987, Dr. Gutman testified that MR. SHAPIRO should have gotten antibiotics before his surgery and that with elective surgery such as this it was common practice as far back as 1979 to give bowel preparation by way of antibiotics prior to surgery (R 278-80). He was aware of MR. SHAPIRO's surgery, the fact that "things went bad" and that MR. SHAPIRO was

transferred to the intensive care unit and remained there through his hospitalization. MRS. SHAPIRO would call him and he would tell her what he thought, These telephone conversations took place frequently (R 280).

At some point during September, 1979, MRS. **SHAPIRO** called Dr. Gutman and requested him to come to Boca Raton to see her husband which he did immediately, arriving at the hospital He remained at the hospital for an hour to near midnight. and a half looking through MR. SHAPIRO's hospital chart (R hour Dr. Gutman was critical of the medical care because there 282). not a hematologist consulting regarding a bleeding problem. Based on this review, Dr. Gutman later testified he also thought internists were at fault and he eventually participated an expert for the lawsuit by personally calling obtaining physicians (R 283-85).

At the time of Dr. Gutman's midnight visit, MR. SHAPIRO "more dead than alive." Dr. Gutman consulted with the was physicians about the problems MR. SHAPIRO had with blood transfusions and gave them advice on how to treat MR. SHAPIRO so that he could accept the transfusions. Dr. Gutman took the credit for saving MR. SHAPIRO's life through this advice. Dr. Gutman remained in Boca Raton for the entire weekend the midnight hospital visit (R 289-90).

After his return to Ohio, Dr. Gutman continued to follow MR. SHAPIRO's hospitalization through phone conversations. He was very familiar with the antibiotics that were being used, the fact that they were extremely powerful and the follow-up which was required when using these medications (R 292). At some Gutman talked to DR. BARRON in the hospital or by point, Dr. telephone. In Dr. Gutman's opinion as expressed in his BARRON was operating as physicians did back deposition, DR. 1950, not the way they were operating in 1979. "He did a lot of SHAPIRO told Dr. things that shouldn't been done (R 294)." MRS. SHAPIRO had lost his vision before the patient Gutman that MR. was discharged from the hospital (R 296).

When MRS. SHAPIRO was questioned in her deposition about Dr. Gutman's review, she indicated that Dr. Gutman's primary purpose was to look in on MR. SHAPIRO, see how he was and what the conditions were. When asked whether Dr. Gutman had any criticisms of DR. BARRON's treatment, she stated "You let him speak for himself (R 351)."

When questioned as to the complaints she had of DR. BARRON's treatment, MRS. SHAPIRO stated "I am complaining about the fact that my husband is blind. He drug [sic] himself into the hospital for a colon operation and came out blind. Came out deaf in one ear. •••That is my complaint (R 363)." MRS. SHAPIRO was aware that her husband's blindness was caused by the fungus

infection, as diagnosed by Dr. Wallace, who treated the patient during the hospital stay. She was also aware that the infectious process began when her husband acquired **a** postoperative infection which required one antibiotic after another, killing good and bad bacteria and allowing a fungus to take over (R 365-67).

When Dr. Wallace was called in to consult during the hospital stay, he told MRS. SHAPIRO that the candida infection, which arose from the extensive use of antibiotics to treat the postoperative infections, caused the blindness. To prevent the candida infection, MRS. SHAPIRO testified that specialists were called in during the hospitalization who administered medication which eventually killed off the infection (R 367). SHAPIRO herself suggested the infectious disease physician MRS. to care for her husband during the hospitalization because didn't want any more playing around with Lee (R 368)." Based the dangerous nature of the drug used to control the MRS. SHAPIRO made sure that her husband's condition was monitored very carefully and that the clinic reports were read and the medication discontinued when there was an adverse reaction 368).

At the end of MR. SHAPIRO's hospital stay, MRS. SHAPIRO requested the hospital records to be sent to her. She gave them to her attorney. She never requested any records from DR. BARRON

but she did review the records when she obtained them (R 352; 368). Calvin Kunin was the expert physician who eventually testified by deposition on behalf of MR. and MRS. SHAPIRO. His criticism of the care and treatment rendered to MR. SHAPIRO was that DR. BARRON failed to use antibacterial or antimicrobial agents prior to the August, 1979 surgery. According to Dr. Kunin, widely accepted as far back as the 1940's and 1950's the field of surgery to use this type of therapy (R Kunin's opinion was based on the available medical 408). literature and his review of leading surgeons in the country over a period of twenty years (R 409). Dr. Kunin testified that the medical process in MR. SHAPIRO's case began with a postoperative complication caused by the lack of use of the antibiotics (R 410-11). The lack of preoperative antibiotics allowed the infectious process to begin postoperatively and the infectious process then required the extensive use of antibiotics allowing a fungus to The fungus entered the bloodstream and led directly to develop. the blindness (R 420-22).

According to the medical records, it became apparent that MR. SHAPIRO was losing his eyesight as early as October, 1979. The treating internists ordered an eye consultation as early as November 12, 1979; the consultant visited MR. SHAPIRO on November 14, 1979 and reported that the candida infection had reached the eyes. MR. SHAPIRO was diagnosed as having lost his

vision in November, 1979, because of the growth of the fungus which became blood born and affected the optic area. The blindness was definitively diagnosed by December 31, 1979 (AP 1-5).

SHAPIRO filed a complaint for MR. and MRS. malpractice against DR. BARRON on January 29, 1982 (R complaint specifically alleged negligence in the failure to antimicrobial prophylaxis preoperatively, intraoperatively use immediately postoperatively (R 51). BARRON filed a and DR. motion for summary judgment on the basis of the statute of limitations (R 251). The lower court granted the motion (R 501).

Recognizing the caution which should be used granting summary judgment motions in malpractice cases, the lower court determined there was no genuine issue of material fact and that DR. BARRON was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. court stated that it was uncontroverted the records revealed that MR. SHAPIRO was suffering from an infection by September 1, 1979 and that this infection and its treatment led to a further fungus which affected the decedent's vision by November 14, uncontroverted evidence demonstrated a diagnosis of blindness from the fungus infection by December 31, 1979. Ιt was clear that MRS. SHAPIRO was unhappy with the medical care treatment her husband was receiving as early as September, and that she requested assistance from Dr. Gutman who traveled to Florida and reviewed the records that same month.

SHAPIRO appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal which reversed the summary judgment. Shapiro v. Barron, 538 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). DR. BARRON moved for a rehearing, a rehearing en banc and certification of the question statute of limitations barred whether the this medical malpractice claim. All motions were denied and DR. BARRON filed application for discretionary review on the basis of conflict with prior cases of this court. This brief is submitted pursuant to this court's order accepting jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court in <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976) and <u>Moore v. Morris</u>, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1985), set forth the guidelines for determining when the statute of limitations begins to run in a medical malpractice case. The statute commences either when a plaintiff has notice of a negligent act giving rise to the cause of action or when a plaintiff is on notice of the physical injury which is a consequence of a negligent act. Despite many opportunities to do so, this court has not receded from its pronouncements in <u>Nardone</u>.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant case relied on an erroneous interpretation of <u>Moore</u> to hold that a plaintiff must have knowledge not only of a physical injury but also that the physical injury was caused by negligence before the

statute is triggered. This misinterpretation of <u>Moore</u> originated in earlier decisions by the district courts of appeal and has appeared frequently in cases denying defendants the benefit of the statute of limitations in medical malpractice cases. Application of this interpretation allows potential plaintiffs to control when the statute of limitations begins to run as to their claim and accords them the opportunity to prevent the statute's running until they obtain an expert opinion that negligence exists. Neither <u>Nardone</u> nor <u>Moore</u> indicated an intent to extend the statute in this fashion.

Although the Fourth District Court of Appeal recognized Nardone's holding that the contents of medical records should be imputed to potential plaintiffs, the court failed to apply this to the facts in this case. The uncontroverted evidence before the trial court demonstrated that medical records the information necessary to determine containing were available to and negligence existed obtainable by respondents from the moment MR. SHAPIRO was hospitalized. The uncontradicted evidence also indicated that MRS. SHAPIRO took advantage of the availability of the medical records by having an independent medical advisor review those records early September, 1979 (R 282). This medical advisor continued to consult throughout the remainder of the hospitalization and

expertise was available to respondents. There was no claim evidence that anyone had prevented respondents from obtaining the also no claim or medical records: there was evidence of continuing assurances to continuing treatment or respondents misleading them as to the medical condition or its cause. under the restrictive analysis accorded the of statute by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the summary limitations judgment entered by the trial court should have been upheld.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FAILING TO APPLY THIS COURT'S HOLDING IN NARDONE v. REYNOLDS AND IN MISINTERPRETING MOORE v. MORRIS

This court clearly established the guidelines applying the statute of limitations in a medical malpractice case Nardone v. Reynolds, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), has repeated the principles established there in Ash v. Stella, 457 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1984), and Moore v. Morris, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in 1985). instant case conflicts with this court's pronouncements effectively removes the possibility of a defense summary judgment on the basis of the statute of limitations in medical malpractice cases. The other district courts of appeal also have reversed judgments in medical malpractice cases, despite this summary in a fashion similar to that of the Fourth court's rulings,

District Court of Appeal. This court should quash the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion and direct reinstatement of the lower court's order.

Nardone, the United States District Court had granted a summary judgment for the physicians in a medical malpractice case; the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit certified questions to the Florida Supreme Court regarding when the statute of limitations commenced medical malpractice case and whether medical records' contents should be imputed to the potential plaintiffs. The parents Nardone were aware prior to their child's discharge from the hospital that he was totally blind, no longer able to walk beyond help or hope of recovery, although they were not aware of the possible causes for the child's condition. The hospital records were available to the parents at all times and subsequent treating physicians examined portions of those records in the years prior to the lawsuit's filing. Nardone, 333 So.2d at 29. The child was discharged in July, 1965 and the parents filed a lawsuit in May, 1971.

This court began its analysis by noting that the parents unquestionably were aware of the extent of their child's injury when he was discharged from the hospital. The parents argued that the court should hold that the statute began to run only when they became aware of the physicians' negligence.

Citing <u>City of Miami v. Brooks</u>, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954), the court rejected this argument, stating that the statute of limitations commences

[E]ither when the plaintiff has notice of the negligent act giving rise to the cause of action or when the plaintiff has notice of the physical injury which is the consequence of the negligent act. Nardone, 333 So.2d at 32.

The statute began to run, therefore, when the injury was known.

Reviewing <u>City of Miami v. Brooks</u>, 70 So.2d 306 1954), the <u>Nardone</u> court noted the general rule that where injury is sustained, the statute of limitations attaches at once; the statute's running is not postponed by the later occurrence of substantial damages. In its analysis, the Brooks court distinguished between notice of a negligent act and notice of its the injury . The Nardone court accepted this consequences or distinction and held the statute began to run when a plaintiff had notice of either the act or injury. This court determined that the change in the child's condition was obvious and known to the plaintiffs while the child was still hospitalized and before With the available knowledge of the injury, this his discharge. court held the parents were on notice of the possible invasion of

Because the <u>Brooks</u> plaintiff did not have notice of either the act or injury, the court affirmed the denial of a directed verdict on the statute of limitations.

their legal rights even without knowledge that the condition resulted from a negligent act.

Knowledge of the medical records which were obtainable The court stated "the means of imputed to the parents. was knowledge are the same as knowledge itself." Nardone, 333 So.2d 34. Examining the purpose behind imputing knowledge of a t records. the court cited various sources explaining that ignorance of available facts should not postpone the statute of limitations and that a party should not be allowed to take advantage of their own fault in failing to examine available The statute will only be tolled where a party has information. remained ignorant of the facts through no fault of their own but the party must exercise reasonable care and diligence to learn the facts. Nardone, 333 So.2d at 35.

This court once again addressed the statute of limitations in a medical malpractice case in Ash v. Stella, 457 1377 (Fla. 1984), when the trial court granted a summary judgment for the defendant's physician and the district court reversed. Although the court approved the reversal of summary judgment without citation to Nardone, it did so only on the basis that the available diagnosis in that case "inarguably a preliminary diagnosis." That tentative diagnosis, according to this court, was not sufficient to trigger statute of limitations' running. Unlike Nardone, the Ash

plaintiff did not have knowledge of a negligent act or an injury until receipt of a diagnosis.

In <u>Moore v. Morris</u>, **475** So.2d **666** (Fla. 1985), this court quashed the affirmance of a final summary judgment based on the statute of limitations in a medical malpractice case. The court cited <u>Nardone</u> and its pronouncements that the statute of limitations begins to run when "either 'the plaintiff has notice of the negligent act giving rise to the cause of action or when the plaintiff has notice of the physical injury which is the consequence of the negligent act.'" <u>Moore</u>, 475 So.2d at **667**. The court did not indicate any intention to recede this statement in <u>Nardone</u>.

Examining the facts of the alleged malpractice in Moore, which the patient claimed occurred during childbirth, the court determined that there were genuine issues of material fact where the parents were misled into believing their child had suffered reversible injury from a natural biological cause. The physicians told the parents the child was fine, that the distress had been temporary and the baby had recovered fully. There was also testimony indicating that the physicians were unable to diagnose damage until the child reached the age of three. Contrary to respondent's arguments in this case, the Moore opinion did not hold that the statute of limitations is triggered

only by knowledge of negligence or injury caused by negligence. The opinion did reaffirm that <u>Nardone</u> was still the law but reversed the summary judgment based on the facts demonstrating that the parents were misled as to the existence and cause of any injury.

The holdings in Nardone, Ash and Moore all interpret the statute of limitations in a similar fashion. They require only notice of a negligent act or a physical injury, which a plaintiff may later discover is a consequence of a negligent act. of these opinions state that it is acceptable to delay the commencement of the statute of limitations until a plaintiff expert opinion stating that there was negligence in a medical procedure which caused injury. The effect of the Fourth District Court of Appeal's interpretation of these opinions in combination with other district court holdings in similar cases in recent years is to deprive defendants of the benefit of the statute of limitations in medical malpractice cases. The Nardone, Ash and Moore opinions do not lead to that result.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in this case, along with those of other district courts of appeal recently, have gone far beyond this court's rulings regarding the statute of limitations. For example, in Schafer v. Leher, 476 So.2d 781 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), the court stated "knowledge of a physical injury alone, without the knowledge that the injury

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