0/a 1-9-90.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

DEC 11 1989

Doputor Clark

HD J. WARK

CASE NO. 74,144 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JAMES BARRON, M.D., et al.,

-VS-

- ¹⁶-

×...

JOSEPHINE SHAPIRO, etc., et al.,

Respondent.

Petitioners,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON THE MERITS

Kevin L. O'Brien, Esq. of THOMPSON AND O'BRIEN P.O. Box 14334 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33302 and Philip M. Burlington, Esq. of EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A. Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District properly reversed the summary judgment in favor of Defendants since, at a minimum, there were genuine issues of material fact regarding when the limitations period commenced. The statute of limitations that applied during the relevant events, which was in essence the 1975 version of the statute, provides that the limitations period begins when "the incident" occurred or when it was discovered or, in the exercise of due diligence, should have been discovered. In FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND v. TILLMAN, 487 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1986), this Court affirmed and approved a decision of the Fourth District determining that a medical malpractice "incident" contained three elements: (1) a medical procedure; (2) tortiously performed; (3) which injures the patient. In the case sub judice, it was alleged that Mr. Shapiro's blindness resulted from an infection which was caused by Dr. Barron's failure to utilize antibiotics immediately before, during, and after surgery. There was no evidence in the record that Mr. Shapiro or Mrs. Shapiro were ever aware of that "incident" during the hospitalization The lawsuit was filed within two years of Mr. Shapiro's period. discharge and, therefore, the statute of limitations should not be deemed to have expired. At a minimum, there are factual issues regarding whether Plaintiffs should have known of that medical malpractice incident prior to Mr. Shapiro's discharge, which would, of course, require reversal of the summary judgment and a remand for determination by the trier of fact.

Defendants rely heavily on NARDONE v. REYNOLDS, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), however in that case, this Court construed a different statute of limitations. This Court determined that, under that statute, the limitations period commenced upon discovery of the injury. The statute applicable in the case <u>subjudice</u> does not provide for the limitations period to commence upon the date of the injury, but rather specifically provides for that period to begin upon discovery of "the incident." Therefore, NARDONE does not apply in this case and, based on the above-stated reasoning, the Fourth District's decision should be affirmed.

QUESTION PRESENTED

THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANTS SHOULD BE REVERSED AND, THEREFORE, ITS DECISION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

ARGUMENT

In their brief, Defendants argue that this Court should adhere to NARDONE v. REYNOLDS, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), with regard to the construction of the statute of limitations governing medical malpractice actions. However, the relevant statute of limitations has been amended three times since the statute at issue in NARDONE. Defendants' discussion of the case law fails to note any of the amendments in the statute.³

 $^{^{3}}$ /Defendants do not mention the amendments until pages 26-27 of their brief.

Defendants also fail to cite FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND v. TILLMAN, 487 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1986), wherein this Court approved the Fourth District's decision construing the statute of limitations that applies in the case <u>sub judice</u>.⁴ Based on these deficiencies, it is respectfully submitted that Defendants' arguments must be rejected since none of the cases they rely on construe the statute of limitations at issue herein.

<u>History of the Statute of Limitations for Medical Malpractice</u> <u>Actions in Florida</u>:

Prior to 1971, the statute of limitations governing medical malpractice actions was contained in <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. §95.11(4)(1943), see WORRELL v. JOHN F. KENNEDY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, 384 So.2d 897, 899 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), aff'd in pertinent part, DOBER v. WORRELL, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981). That statutory provision addressed miscellaneous actions, and provided:

Actions other than those for the recovery of real property can only be commenced as follows:...(4) WITHIN FOUR YEARS - any action for relief not specifically provided for in this chapter.

In 1971, the Florida Legislature adopted a statute of limitations specifically addressing medical malpractice, Laws of Florida 71-254. That statute, <u>Fla</u>, <u>Stat</u>. **§95.11(6)** (1971), provided in pertinent part:

(6) Within two years - ...An action to recover damages for injuries to the person arising from any medical, dental, optometric,

⁴/Both amicus briefs also fail to cite the TILLMAN case.

or chiropractic treatment or surgical operation, the cause of action in such case not to be deemed to have accrued until the plaintiff discovers, or through use of reasonable care should have discovered, <u>the</u> injury. [Emphasis supplied.]

That statute was effective July 1, 1972, <u>see</u> Laws of Florida 71-254.

In 1974, the Florida Legislature amended the statute to provide that the two-year limitation period would commence when the plaintiff discovers, or through the use of reasonable care should have discovered, the "cause of action", Laws of Florida 74-382. That provision was effective January 1, 1975, <u>see</u> Laws of Florida 74-382.

In 1975, the Florida Legislature again amended the statute to provide:

An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within two years from the time <u>the</u> <u>incident</u> occurred giving rise to the action, or within two years from the time the <u>incident</u> is discovered, or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence,.... [Emphasis supplied.]

That amendment was effective May 20, 1975, <u>see</u> Laws of Florida 75-9.

All of the relevant events involved in the case <u>sub judice</u> occurred subsequent to 1975. Thus, <u>Fla. Stat</u>. **§95.11(4)(b)** (1975) is the provision that applies in this case. Obviously, the issue before this Court is a question of statutory construction. NARDONE does not address the language of the 1975 statute, and thus, is not binding, precedent on the issue since it concluded that the event triggering the limitations period was

the injury (or discovery of it), and the relevant event under the 1975 statue is the incident (or discovery of it). It is not even persuasive precedent as to the appropriate interpretation of that provision. Nonetheless, in order to provide a relevant background to the discussion of this statute, NARDONE provides an appropriate starting point to analyze the evolution of case law regarding the medical malpractice statute of limitations.

Evolution of Case Law Addressing Medical Malpractice Statutes of Limitations:

In NARDONE v. REYNOLDS, supra, this Court addressed certain certified questions presented to it by the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. Those questions involved the proper interpretation of Fla. Stat. §95.11(4) (1971), which was the "miscellaneous" limitations provision effective prior to the That statute did not specifically state what 1971 amendment. event triggered the limitations period, but simply provided that such an action must be commenced within four years. Since that statute did not address that issue, this Court relied on common law principles previously utilized by it in CHRISTIANI V. CITY OF SARASOTA, 65 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1953), and CITY OF MIAMI V. BROOKS, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954), to resolve the question. Those cases provided that, consistent with the general rule applicable to negligence actions, the limitations period would commence upon notice of the negligent act or notice of the physical injurv.⁵

⁵/In NARDONE, this Court specifically noted the 1971 and (Footnote Continued)

Based on the common law principles regarding the accrual of a cause of action for negligence, this Court determined that the statute of limitations commenced to run when the nature of the child's condition was obvious and known to the plaintiffs, i.e., the parents and legal guardians, 333 So.2d at 33. This Court determined that since the parents had access to the medical records, which detailed the child's condition and the causes thereof, they were on notice as to those relevant facts which further supported the conclusion regarding the date on which the statute of limitations commenced. This Court held (333 So.2d at 40):

> Mere ignorance of the easily discoverable facts which constitute the cause of action will not postpone the operation of the statute of limitation as to the party plaintiffs.

The next case in which this Court addressed the statute of limitations in medical malpractice actions was ASH v. STELLA, 457 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1984). The statute at issue therein was the one promulgated in 1975, which provided that the limitations period was triggered at the date of "the incident," or the date the incident was discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, 457 So.2d at 1379.

⁽Footnote Continued)

¹⁹⁷⁴ amendments relating to the statute of limitations for medical malpractice actions, 333 So.2d at 32, fn. 1. However, this Court noted that they were not material to the instant case, obviously because the relevant events occurred prior to the effective date of those statutes.

The cause of action in ASH arose from Defendants' alleged failure to diagnose a malignant tumor. The plaintiff alleged that his decedent came under the care and treatment of the defendant physician on January 7, 1977 and that he improperly treated her by failing to diagnose her condition, i.e., the existence of the tumor. The complaint alleged that a proper diagnosis was made on March 23, 1977, with the final results of the test confirming that diagnosis was made available on March 30, 1977. The plaintiff filed the action on March 30, 1979.

The defendant in ASH filed a motion for summary judgment, which was based on the fact that the plaintiff's decedent had been informed of the proper diagnosis more than two years prior to the filing of the action. The trial court granted that motion. The Third District reversed, holding that the two-year limitations period commenced upon the death of the decedent and, thus, had not expired at the time of the filing of the complaint.

This Court quashed the Third District's decision in part on the basis of VARIETY CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL v. PERKINS, 445 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1983), which held that the wrongful death action was derivative of the injured person's right while living to recover for personal injuries. Thus, the relevant event was when "the incident" occurred or was discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence. Nonetheless, this Court determined that the reversal of the trial judge's ruling was appropriate based on the following reasoning (457 So.2d at 1379):

The trial judge concluded that Cynthia Stella knew or should have known of Dr. Ash's allegedly improper diagnosis on March 23, 1977, when she received a proper diagnosis. However, the diagnosis on which the trial court based its decision was inarguably a preliminary diagnosis. Tests to confirm that diagnosis were not performed until March 29. The final results of those tests were not available until March 30. We do not believe that, as a matter of law, a tentative diagnosis, however proper it may turn out to be in hindsight, starts the clock on an action for medical malpractice arising out of negligent failure to properly diagnose. Thus there is an issue of fact as to whether notice that an inoperable, malignant tumor had been discovered did, in fact, put the respondent and his wife on legal notice that the tumor had existed at the time Dr. Ash treated Mrs. Stella and that Dr. Ash had been in improperly diagnosing negligent the problem.

This Court never cited NARDONE v. REYNOLDS in that case, and clearly rejected the principle that the cause of action commenced to run upon discovery of the injury, i.e., the inoperable tumor. Instead, this Court applied the language of the relevant statute and concluded that the appropriate event was the date of "the incident" or the date "the incident'' was discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence. This is clear from the statement concluding this Court's discussion of the case (457 So.2d at 1379):

Absent a finding of fact that before March 30, 1977, medical records showed that the newly discovered tumor had been the cause of Mrs. Stella's earlier problems, constructive knowledge of the <u>incident</u> giving rise to the claim cannot be charged to the Stellas. [Emphasis supplied.]

Subsequent to this Court's decision in ASH v. STELLA, <u>supra</u>, this Court issued its decision in MOORE v. MORRIS, 475 So.2d 666

(Fla. 1985). While decided subsequent to ASH, the court in MOORE was applying the predecessor statute, i.e., <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §95.11(6) (1973) (which was the statute promulgated in 1971). That statute provided that the event triggering the limitations period was the plaintiff's <u>injury</u> or plaintiff's discovery of the <u>injury</u>. Thus, the language of that statute was consistent with the common law principles applied in NARDONE.

In MOORE, the parents of a child brought an action seeking damages for injuries alleged sustained at the child's birth. The child was born on July 9, 1973, and the action was filed by her parents on April 25, 1978. The trial court granted summary judgment for the defendants on a statute of limitations defense, and the Third District affirmed. Applying NARDONE, this Court reversed, concluding that there was a genuine issue of fact whether the plaintiffs had notice of the negligent act giving rise to the cause of action or notice of the physical injury which was a consequence of the negligent act, more than two years prior to the filing of the action. In addition to relying on NARDONE, this Court also relied on ALMENGOR v. DADE COUNTY, 359 So.2d 892 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), which applied the pre-1971 statute of limitations, i.e., Fla. Stat. §95.11(4) (1969). Thus, this Court's decision indicated that there was no significant difference between the pre-1971 statute of limitations and the 1971 statute with respect to the event that triggered the limitations period.

However, the subsequent amendments to that statute of limitations obviously were intended to change its meaning and

application. It is, of course, a recognized canon of statutory construction that in making material changes in a statute, the legislature is presumed to have intended some objective alteration of the law, CAPELLA v. CITY OF GAINESVILLE, 377 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1979); SEDDON v. HARPSTER, 403 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1981). This is further reflected in this Court's opinion in ASH v. STELLA, <u>supra</u>, which construed the 1975 version of the statute and did not rely on NARDONE. It is further clarified by this Court's subsequent decision in FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND v. TILLMAN, 487 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1986).

In TILLMAN, the plaintiff experienced knee problems which required the surgical implant of a two element prosthesis. Surgery was performed by Dr. Waxman on April 12, **1978**. Shortly after surgery, Dr. Waxman advised the plaintiff that mismatched elements had been implanted in the knee. The plaintiff contended that, nonetheless, Dr. Waxman assured him continuously that his condition was improving, while Dr. Waxman testified that during that period, Tillman felt he was not improving. In February **1979**, a Dr. Ennis took x-rays of the plaintiff's knee and informed him that he would need another operation, which was subsequently performed and resulted in the plaintiff's knee being fused.

The plaintiff filed suit on February 29, 1980, naming as a defendant, <u>inter alia</u>, Dr. Waxman. Dr. Waxman contended that the statute of limitations had expired because more than two years had passed since the date he had informed Tillman of the mismatched components and of the period of time after surgery

when Tillman felt he was not improving. The trial court denied Dr. Waxman's motion for summary judgment, and permitted the issue to be presented to the jury, who resolved it adversely to the defendant. Dr. Waxman appealed, and the Fourth District affirmed.

The Fourth District stated that the applicable statute was Fla. Stat. §95.11(4)(b), which was the 1975 version of the statute, FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND v. TILLMAN, 453 So.2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). In doing so, the court specifically stated that since the 1975 version of the statute was at issue, "cases under the former version of the statute relied upon by Waxman [are] of doubtful value as precedent", 453 So.2d at 1378. The court then construed the 1975 statute, noting that the limitations period commenced upon discovery of the "incident giving rise to the cause of action", 453 So.2d at 1379. The court rejected the Third District's holding in SWAGEL V. GOLDMAN, 393 So.2d 65 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), that the incident must be the date of the surgical malpractice (453 So.2d at 1379), stating:

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